Information Circular 72-17R5

Procedures
concerning the
disposition of taxable
Canadian property by
non-residents of
Canada – Section 116



More Ways to Serve You!

This version is only available electronically.

This circular cancels and replaces Information Circular 72-17R4, dated April 24, 1992. Unless otherwise stated all references to a statute herein are to the Income Tax Act (the "Act").

Table of Contents

General Information (1-5)

Notification Process (6-12)

Authorized Forms (13-17)

Technical Applications (18-22)

Real Estate Appraisals or Business Equity Valuations (23-24)

Tax Treaty Exemptions (25-29)

Inventory of Land (30)

Section 85 Elections (31-32)

Corporate Reorganizations (33-34)

Security or Payments on Account of Tax (35-38)

Certificate of Compliance (39-42)

Purchaser's Liability (43-50)

Filing a Tax Return – Refund of Excess Payment (51-55)

Misallocated or Lost Payments (56-58)

General Comments (59-66)

General Information

- 1. Under section 116, non-resident vendors (from now on referred to as vendors) who dispose of certain taxable Canadian property (see item 2 below) have to notify the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) about the disposition either before they dispose of the property or within ten days after the disposition. When the CRA has received either an amount to cover the tax on any gain the vendor may realize upon the disposition of property, or appropriate security for the tax, the CRA will issue a certificate of compliance to the vendor. A copy of the certificate is also sent to the purchaser. If the purchaser does not receive such certificate, the purchaser is required to remit a specified amount to the Receiver General for Canada and is entitled to deduct the amount from the purchase price. Any payments or security provided by the vendor and/or purchaser will be credited to the vendor's account. A final settlement of tax will be made when the vendor's income tax return for the year is assessed.
- 2. Taxable Canadian property (referred to in paragraph 1 above) is described in subsection 248(1). While this is not a complete list, taxable Canadian property includes:

- (a) real property in Canada;
- (b) property used or held in, or eligible capital property in respect of, a business carried on in Canada;
- (c) designated insurance property of an insurer;
- (d) shares of a corporation resident in Canada that are not listed on a prescribed stock exchange;
- (e) shares of a non-resident corporation that are not listed on a prescribed stock exchange if, at any time during the last sixty months,
 - i) more than 50% of the fair market value of all the property of the non-resident corporation was made up of a taxable Canadian property, a Canadian resource property, a timber resource property, an income interest in a trust resident in Canada, or an interest or option in such properties; and
 - ii) more than 50% of the fair market value of the shares was derived directly or indirectly from real property situated in Canada, Canadian resource properties or timber resource properties, or any combination of such properties.

- (f) shares listed on a prescribed stock exchange that are otherwise described in (d) and (e) if, at any time during the last sixty months, 25% or more of the shares of the corporation belonged to the taxpayer and/or persons with whom the taxpayer did not deal at arm's length;
- (g) an interest in a partnership if, at any time during the last sixty months, the partnership met a test comparable to the one described in (e)(i) above;
- (h) a capital interest in a Canadian resident trust (other than a unit trust);
- (i) a unit of a Canadian resident unit trust (other than a mutual fund trust);
- (j) a unit of a mutual fund trust if, at any time during the last sixty months, 25% or more of the units of the trust belonged to the taxpayer and/or persons with whom the taxpayer did not deal at arm's length;
- (k) an interest in a non-resident trust if, at any time during the last sixty months, the trust met tests comparable to the ones described in (e) above;

- (I) an interest in, or an option in respect of, property described in any of items (a) to (k).
- 3. Certain types of taxable Canadian property fall into the category of excluded property as defined in subsection 116(6) and, as such, are not subject to the requirements of section 116. The disposition of excluded properties by a non-resident person may result in tax payable under subsections 2(3) and 115(1). Excluded property consists of:
- (a) a property that is a taxable Canadian property solely because a provision of the Act deems it to be a taxable Canadian property;
- (b) a property that is inventory of a business carried on in Canada (other than real property situated in Canada, a Canadian resource property or a timber resource property);
- (c) shares of capital stock of a corporation that are listed on a prescribed stock exchange;
- (d) a unit of a mutual fund trust;
- (e) a bond, debenture, bill, note, mortgage, hypothecary claim or similar obligation;

- (f) property of a non-resident insurer that is licensed to carry on an insurance business in Canada and does so;
- (g) property of an authorized foreign bank that is used or held in the bank's Canadian banking business

[**Note:** Draft legislation released on February 27, 2004 proposes to change this to "property of an authorized foreign bank that carries on a Canadian banking business"];

- (h) an option in respect of property (whether or not such property is in existence) referred to in any of items (a) to (g); and
- (i) an interest in property referred to in any of items (a) to (h).
- 4. Subsection 116(5.2) specifies that where a non-resident disposes or proposes to dispose of a life insurance policy in Canada, a Canadian resource property, a property (other than capital property) that is real property situated in Canada, a timber resource property, a depreciable property that is a taxable Canadian property, or any interest in or option in respect of these properties, and the non-resident has paid the tax or provided acceptable security, the Minister will issue a certificate stating the proceeds or proposed

proceeds of disposition. [**Note:** Draft legislation released on February 27, 2004 proposes to apply the provisions of subsection 116(5.2) to eligible capital property that is a taxable Canadian property.]

5. Section 116 applies when the vendor is a non-resident or considered to be a non-resident under the Act (e.g., subsection 250(5) DEEMED NON-RESIDENT). If a vendor is contemplating selling the property to which section 116 applies, and the vendor is a Canadian resident before the property is disposed of, but will be a non-resident when the property is finally disposed of, section 116 will apply. The purchaser's domicile or country of residence is not relevant in determining if section 116 applies. The purchaser may be either a Canadian resident or a non-resident.

Notification Process

6. Under subsection 116(1), a vendor may submit a notice to the CRA for a proposed disposition. The vendor should send this notice at least 30 days before the property is actually disposed of to permit sufficient time to review the transaction and verify that the vendor's

payment or security is adequate. If possible, the CRA will issue a T2064, CERTIFICATE — PROPOSED DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY BY A NON-RESIDENT OF CANADA before the actual date the vendor disposes of the property. Where notification of a proposed disposition was not made or if the transaction was completed in a manner different from the proposed disposition, the vendor must send the CRA a notice of the actual disposition, as required by subsection 116(3), by registered mail, not later than 10 days after the date the property was disposed of.

There are three principal reasons for differences between the proposed and actual transaction:

- (a) The actual purchaser is different from the one originally reported. This may occur, for example, if the purchaser assigns the purchase and sale agreement to a related party or takes title in joint tenancy with another person.
- (b) The actual proceeds of disposition to the non-resident are higher than the estimated amount reported.
- (c) Prior to the disposition, there is a decrease to the vendor's adjusted cost base. In view of the diverse events which may

reduce the adjusted cost base, as described in subsection 53(2), careful attention must be given to this situation.

However, where the actual proceeds of disposition are lower than the stated amount on the notice of proposed disposition or where the adjusted cost base is higher than previously reported on the notice of proposed disposition, the vendor does not have to send a notice regarding the actual disposition.

7. A vendor should use the appropriate authorized form to notify the CRA about a section 116 disposition. The forms outline the procedures to follow for reporting the transaction, calculating the gain or loss, income, recapture or terminal loss, and making the required payment on account of tax. The vendor must also provide all required information and documentation as described in the "Supporting Document List" attached to the authorized form. This information is essential to the issuance of the certificate in a timely manner. The notification form must be signed by the vendor. However, a notification signed by the vendor's representative will be accepted if a letter authorizing the CRA to deal with the representative is provided. Vendors can obtain the forms from any tax services office (TSO) or

download them from the internet (www.cra.gc.ca). Refer to the section on "Authorized Forms" below for the form numbers.

- 8. The vendor may also notify the CRA by a letter stating that it is a notification of a disposition for section 116 purposes. In this case, the vendor must report the transaction, calculate the capital gain or loss, income, recapture or terminal loss, make the required payment on account of tax or provide security for it, and provide all required information and documentation as described in the "Supporting Document List" (available on the authorized form), along with the following information:
- (a) the vendor's complete name and address, including country of residence;
- (b) if an individual, date of birth, and departure date from Canada if applicable;
- (c) identification number (social insurance number, business number, trust account number or temporary tax number);
- (d) the complete name and address of the proposed or actual purchaser;

- (e) a description that will enable the Minister to identify the property;
- (f) the estimated or actual amount of the proceeds of disposition (if applicable, an appraisal or valuation report), and
- (g) the vendor's adjusted cost base at the time the notice was filed.
- 9. The vendor's identification number is required to ensure that any payment the vendor makes is credited to the proper account and to match it with the information on the vendor's income tax return filed for the year. If a vendor does not have an identification number, the vendor should contact the applicable TSO (see paragraph 11) to obtain one prior to sending a payment with or without a notification. This will reduce unnecessary delays and allow the CRA to issue the certificate in a timely manner.
- 10. When there is more than one vendor, each vendor must file a separate notification indicating his or her interest in the property. For partnership dispositions, it is CRA policy to accept one notification of disposition filed on behalf of all partners. However, along with the notice, a complete listing of the non-resident partners who are disposing of the property together with their Canadian and foreign addresses, identification numbers, percentage ownership, and their

portion of the payment or security is required. If no account information is available for a non-resident partner, the CRA will assign an identification number. The CRA will then issue a certificate of compliance to each non-resident partner. Each partner is required to file a tax return and, as such, each partner's final tax liability will be determined when the tax returns are filed and assessed.

- 11. The vendor should complete the applicable notification and send it with the required payment on account of tax or acceptable security to the TSO serving the area in which the property is located. If the properties are located in several areas and more than one TSO is affected, the vendor should send the notice to the TSO that serves the area where the majority of the properties are located.
- 12. A vendor who fails to report a disposition under subsection 116(3) may be assessed a penalty pursuant to subsection 162(7) plus any applicable interest. Subsection 162(7) provides that every person or partnership that fails to comply with a duty or obligation imposed by the Act or its regulations is liable to a penalty equal to the greater of \$100 and \$25 per day up to a maximum of \$2,500.

Authorized Forms

- 13. Vendors should use Form T2062, REQUEST BY A NON-RESIDENT OF CANADA FOR A CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE RELATED TO THE DISPOSITION OF TAXABLE CANADIAN PROPERTY to notify the CRA of an actual or proposed disposition of taxable Canadian property as described in paragraph 2 above. Except as otherwise noted below, the notification process for Form T2062 is as outlined in paragraphs 6 to 12 above.
- 14. Form T2062A, REQUEST BY A NON-RESIDENT OF CANADA FOR A CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE RELATED TO THE DISPOSITION OF CANADIAN RESOURCE OR TIMBER RESOURCE PROPERTY, CANADIAN REAL PROPERTY (OTHER THAN CAPITAL PROPERTY), OR DEPRECIABLE TAXABLE CANADIAN PROPERTY, is to be used for reporting the proposed or actual dispositions of properties identified in paragraph 4 above. Except as otherwise noted below, the notification process for Form T2062A is the same as the process outlined for form T2062 in paragraphs 6 to 12 above.
- 15. In some cases, vendors may have to file both Form T2062 and Form T2062A for one disposition. When vendors dispose of

depreciable taxable Canadian property, they should use Form T2062 to declare the gain or loss. The recapture of capital cost allowance or terminal loss should be reported on Form T2062A. Depreciable property is property for which a taxpayer is entitled to claim capital cost allowance, which is deductible when calculating income from business or property. Form T2062A should be filed even if capital cost allowance has not been claimed on a depreciable property. In these instances two certificates of compliance will be issued.

- 16. Vendors should use Form T2062A Schedule 1, DISPOSITION OF CANADIAN RESOURCE PROPERTY BY NON-RESIDENTS to determine the balances in the various "pools" and the payment on account of tax (if any) when they dispose of Canadian resource properties. To support the amounts reported, vendors should also submit Form T2062A along with any other supporting documents. Vendors cannot use unrelated outlays and expenses and losses carried forward from previous years to reduce the balance in the "pools" and thus lower the amount subject to payment on account of tax under section 116.
- 17. Life insurance companies should use Form T2062B, NOTICE OF DISPOSITION OF A LIFE INSURANCE POLICY IN CANADA BY A NON-RESIDENT OF CANADA and Form T2062B Schedule 1, CERTIFICATION AND

REMITTANCE NOTICE to report the disposition of life insurance policies in Canada on behalf of a vendor. In these instances, the insurer requests a letter of authorization from the vendor in order to establish an agency relationship. The insurer then submits a copy of this letter with Form T2062B and the appropriate payment on account of tax to the CRA.

Technical Applications

- 18. A "disposition" is defined in subsection 248(1) as including "any transaction or event entitling a taxpayer to proceeds of disposition of the property". Therefore, the disposition of real property normally occurs at the time the deed, in properly executed form, is delivered to the purchaser. This is usually the closing date. If the disposition is in the form of a vendor's agreement for sale, then the disposition normally occurs when the properly executed agreement for sale is delivered to the person acquiring the property.
- 19. The definition of "proceeds of disposition" in section 54 is used for calculating the proceeds amount for section 116 reporting. If the disposition is not at arm's length and the consideration is less than

fair market value, proceeds will be considered to be equal to fair market value, in accordance with subsection 116(5.1).

- 20. The adjusted cost base reported on Form T2062, T2062A, or T2062B must be calculated in accordance with the relevant sections of the Act and the INCOME TAX APPLICATION RULES. If the CRA determines that the adjusted cost base differs from the amount reported by the vendor, the CRA will take the position that the vendor has not provided the required information, and will then withhold the certificate until the vendor provides the correct information.
- 21. When a foreign currency is involved, the adjusted cost base is converted into Canadian dollars at its historical rate while the proceeds of disposition are converted at the exchange rate in effect at the date of disposition.
- 22. The rules for determining whether a disposition of a life insurance policy in Canada has occurred, as well as the amount of the proceeds and the adjusted cost base are set out in section 148. For more information, refer to the current version of IT-87, POLICYHOLDERS' INCOME FROM LIFE INSURANCE POLICIES.

Real Estate Appraisals or Business Equity Valuations

- 23. To reduce delays, the CRA may request copies of the vendor's financial statements for the previous year, as these are usually not readily available in the TSOs. These statements may be used by the CRA's Business Equity Valuation or Real Estate Appraisal Sections to review the vendor's reported values.
- 24. If the CRA determines that a detailed real estate appraisal or business equity valuation is required, an attempt will be made to establish an "estimated value" on which a required payment on account of tax may be based. If the vendor wishes to make a payment based on this "estimated value", the CRA will issue the certificate of compliance to enable the vendor to complete the transaction without having to wait for the results of the appraisal or valuation, which may take several months.

Once the business equity valuation or real estate appraisal has been completed, any changes in the values will be discussed with the vendor or the vendor's representative. The values established as a result of the appraisal or equity valuation should be used when the

vendor files a return of income for the year in which the disposition occurs.

If the valuation or appraisal is finalized in the vendor's favour before the income tax return for the year in which the disposition occurs may be filed, the vendor may request a refund of any excess payment on account of tax. The request must be made in writing to the TSO that processed the section 116 notification and an amended Certificate of Compliance will be issued.

Tax Treaty Exemptions

25. Section 116 does not provide for treaty exempt status. However, the CRA allows vendors to claim an exemption under a specific tax treaty at the time they file the notification of disposition. Vendors must state the applicable Article (paragraph) of the particular treaty that Canada has with their country of residence. To expedite the processing of the exemption, the necessary documentation to support the claim should be submitted along with the request. The documentation must be based on the particular tax treaty under which the exemption is claimed, and would include items such as proof of

residency, or proof that the gain has been or will be reported in the vendor's country of residence. Tax officials in some countries may supply the necessary certification required to claim the exemption. Refer to the Supporting Document List in the instructions to forms T2062 and T2062A for a complete list of the required documentation.

- 26. The United States Department of the Treasury, Internal Revenue Service will provide certification for corporations, exempt organizations and individuals. Requests for certification should be sent to the appropriate service centre. The Department of the Treasury, Publication 686, CERTIFICATION FOR REDUCED TAX RATES IN TAX TREATY COUNTRIES, outlines the certification process.
- 27. The CRA needs at least 30 days to make the necessary determination. If the CRA and the vendor cannot agree as to whether the exemption of a particular tax convention applies, the vendor must provide the required payment or security before a certificate of compliance is issued. A letter of undertaking is not considered acceptable security. Once the matter is resolved, the vendor may request a refund or release of security based on the final decision and an amended certificate of compliance will be issued.

- 28. The granting of exemptions at the time of notification of disposition is discretionary. The vendor must provide documents to support the proceeds of disposition and the adjusted cost base of the property. The certificate of compliance will indicate that the disposition is treaty exempt. However, the certificate of compliance will be issued only when all other outstanding debts of the vendor with the CRA have been satisfied.
- 29. For the purpose of Article XIII, paragraph 9 of the Canada-United States Tax Convention, the reduction of the capital gain for properties owned on September 26, 1980 and disposed of after December 31, 1984, is normally calculated by using the following ratio:

The number of months between the date of acquisition or January 1, 1972 (whichever is later), and December 31, 1984

The number of months between the date of acquisition or January 1, 1972 (whichever is later), and the date of disposition

This is so because capital gains in Canada became taxable after 1971, and under the Canada-United States Tax Convention the gains derived in Canada were exempt in Canada until December 31, 1984,

provided the property was owned on September 26, 1980. It is reasonable to view the gain as accruing evenly over the total period of ownership. The gain may be allocated unevenly over the period if the vendor satisfies the Canadian Competent Authority that such an allocation is appropriate. If the vendor wants to use this method, a valuation of the property at December 31, 1984 must be submitted with the notification. For more information, refer to the current version of IT-173, Capital Gains Derived in Canada by Residents of the United States.

Inventory of Land

- 30. Before February 20, 1990, inventory of land was excluded from section 116 requirements. For dispositions after February 20, 1990, the CRA has a discretionary exemption policy for certain vendors who operate a business involving inventory of land. To qualify, the vendor must satisfy the CRA that:
- (a) property transactions of this kind have been previously reported on income account; and/or
- (b) the vendor is making regular instalment payments.

If at the time of filing the notification of disposition, the vendor and the CRA disagree as to the nature of the transaction, i.e. whether proceeds are on account of income or capital, the request for exemption will be referred to the International Audit Section in the applicable TSO. The vendor has to supply any necessary supporting documentation or representation as to why the nature of the transaction should be considered as in respect of income rather than capital. If the International Audit Section is satisfied that the vendor meets the established criteria, and has no outstanding tax liabilities, a certificate of compliance stating "qualified business exemption" will be issued. Refer to the Supporting Document List in the instructions to forms T2062 and T2062A for a complete list of the required documentation.

Section 85 Elections

31. For a disposition that is subject to an election under section 85, the vendor must submit the prescribed section 85 election Form T2057, ELECTION ON DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY BY A TAXPAYER TO A TAXABLE CANADIAN CORPORATION or Form T2058, ELECTION ON

DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY BY A PARTNERSHIP TO A TAXABLE CANADIAN CORPORATION along with Form T2062 or Form T2062A.

32. The vendor must provide supporting documentation, such as business equity valuations, real estate appraisals or calculations showing how the reported values were determined. Refer to the Supporting Document List attached to forms T2062 and T2062A for a list of the required documentation.

Corporate Reorganizations

33. In a corporate reorganization, where multiple taxpayers are involved in a share for share exchange and/or an exchange of stock options, and there is no gain on the exchange, one notification for a disposition may be filed. The transactions must not result in any gains or any benefit conferred on any person and there must be absolutely no non-share consideration involved. Along with the notification, a complete listing of the non-resident shareholders and/or option holders who are disposing of the property, together with their Canadian and foreign addresses, identification number, adjusted cost base and the valuation of shares or options must be provided. The

CRA will review the group of transactions as one transaction and may issue one or more certificates of compliance.

34. Where a share of the capital stock of a corporation that is taxable Canadian property is exchanged for another share of the corporation and paragraph 51(1)(c) applies so as to deem the exchange not to be a disposition, the holder of the share has no obligation under subsections 116(1) and 116(3). However, the corporation has an acquisition and therefore may have obligations as a purchaser under subsection 116(5). Therefore, to prevent a purchaser liability assessment under subsection 116(5), a certificate of compliance may be requested for the exchange. The cost to the corporation would be the stated capital of the shares issued. The TSO may, at its discretion, require nominal security in order to issue a certificate of compliance. For more information on purchaser liability, refer to paragraphs 43 to 50 below.

Security or Payments on Account of Tax

- 35. For a certificate of compliance to be issued under subsection 116(2) or 116(4), the required payment on account of tax or security acceptable to the Minister on the disposition or proposed disposition of property, is a flat rate of 25% of the excess of the proceeds of disposition over the adjusted cost base of the property. Outlays and expenses incurred for the purpose of making the disposition are not taken into account in this calculation. These amounts are deductible in calculating the gain on the disposition, which should be reported on the income tax return for the year in which the disposition occurred.
- 36. For a certificate of compliance to be issued under subsection 116(5.2), for either an actual or a proposed disposition, a payment on account of tax or security acceptable to the Minister must be provided. The amount subject to a payment on account of tax from the disposition of property described in paragraph 4 above recognizes the fact that those amounts are fully included in income. Therefore individual, trust or corporate tax rates will be used in calculating the amount of payment on account of tax or security.

- 37. The CRA's policy is as follows regarding payments on account of tax or security for the disposition of depreciable taxable Canadian property, and any resulting gains and recapture of capital cost allowance.
- (a) Where no capital cost allowance has ever been claimed or a correct amount subject to recapture of capital cost allowance can be determined, the required payment on account of tax is determined as follows:
 - (i) 25% of the gain on the land and building (the amount determined should be reported on Form T2062); and
 - (ii) the applicable individual, trust or corporate federal tax rate applied to the amount of recapture, because this amount will be fully taxable when the vendor files a return of income for the year in which the disposition occurred. Recapture of capital cost allowance should be reported on Form T2062A.
- (b) When the amount of recapture of capital cost allowance or terminal loss cannot be determined at the time of disposition or proposed disposition, the required payment on account of tax is determined as follows:

- (i) 25% of the gain on the land and building (the amount determined should be reported on Form T2062); and
- (ii) the applicable federal tax rate applied to the estimated recapture based on the assumption that the full capital cost allowance was claimed from the time of purchase to the date of disposition. This procedure ensures that a sufficient payment is provided to cover any amount subject to recapture. The final settlement of tax will be made when the return of income, for the year in which the disposition occurs, is assessed. Form T2062A should be used for the notification.

This procedure will only be used after all efforts to determine the correct amount subject to recapture of capital cost allowance have been exhausted and an agreement for the amount subject to recapture of capital cost allowance cannot be reached with the CRA, and it is imperative that the certificate of compliance be issued. Income tax returns for previous years should be made available to support the recapture reported or the terminal loss claimed.

38. Payment of tax should be made by a certified cheque, a cheque drawn on a lawyer's trust account, a bank draft or money order. Where a personal cheque is submitted, the certificate will be issued once the cheque has cleared the bank account. As an alternative to immediate payment of the tax, the CRA may accept security for the tax as an interim arrangement. In such a case, the vendor should contact the Revenue Collections Division at the TSO processing the notification to negotiate the security that the CRA is prepared to accept.

Certificate of Compliance

- 39. The CRA will issue the certificate of compliance at the earliest possible date once the necessary information and supporting documentation have been received and validated, and acceptable payment or security has been received.
- 40. A copy of the certificate of compliance will be issued to both the vendor and the purchaser. The certificate protects the purchaser from any further tax liability in respect of the particular notice filed for that particular disposition. The vendor's final tax liability in respect of the

particular notice will be determined when the vendor files a tax return, as is required under the Act, for the year the disposition took place.

41. Form T2064, CERTIFICATE – PROPOSED DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY BY A NON-RESIDENT OF CANADA will be issued in accordance with subsection 116(2) if the conditions of subsection 116(1) are met, and the required payment on account of tax or acceptable security is provided.

Form T2068, CERTIFICATE – THE DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY BY A NON-RESIDENT OF CANADA will be issued in accordance with subsection 116(4) if the conditions of subsection 116(3) are met, and the required payment on account of tax or acceptable security is provided.

42. Form T2064, CERTIFICATE — PROPOSED DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY BY A NON-RESIDENT OF CANADA or Form T2068, CERTIFICATE — THE DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY BY A NON-RESIDENT OF CANADA, will be issued for proposed or actual dispositions respectively, in accordance with subsection 116(5.2), provided that the vendor has paid any required amount on account of tax or provided acceptable security for the properties described in paragraph 4 above.

Purchaser's Liability

43. If the vendor does not comply with the requirements of subsection 116(3), and the CRA has not issued a certificate of compliance, the purchaser may become liable under subsection 116(5) to pay a specified amount of tax on behalf of the vendor. The purchaser is then entitled to withhold that amount from the purchase price.

The purchaser is liable to pay and remit 25% of either:

- (a) the cost of the property acquired by the purchaser; or
- (b) if a certificate of compliance has been issued under subsection 116(2), the amount by which the cost of the property acquired by the purchaser exceeds the certificate limit fixed by a proposed disposition.

Purchaser liability assessments are not subject to any time restrictions. Therefore, an assessment may be issued at any time the CRA becomes aware that a vendor or purchaser has not adhered to the requirements of section 116.

- 44. For dispositions of properties described in paragraph 4 above, the purchaser may become liable under the provisions of subsection 116(5.3) to pay to the CRA, on behalf of the vendor, an amount equal to 50% of either:
- (a) where a certificate of compliance under subsection 116(5.2) has not been issued, the purchase amount, or
- (b) where a certificate of compliance has been issued, the amount by which the purchase price of the property exceeds the amount fixed in the certificate.

The purchaser is then entitled to withhold that amount from the purchase price.

45. The purchaser's liability for tax under subsection 116(5) or 116(5.3) does not extend to a mortgagee who acquired a property by an Order of Foreclosure, unless the transactions of mortgage and foreclosure were used as a device to sell the property to a mortgagee or a third party. Where the purchaser is the mortgagee, the amount paid will be the amount of the mortgage that is set-off because of the purchase. When the mortgagee is not liable under section 116 to pay

tax, and requests that the CRA issue a certificate of compliance, the CRA may issue a letter to that effect.

- 46. If a mortgagee exercises a power of sale pursuant to the terms of the mortgage, a court order or the provisions of the relevant Mortgage Act, rather than foreclosing, title to the property passes directly from the mortgagor to a third party purchaser. Thus the provisions of subsections 116(5) or (5.3) apply if the vendor/mortgagor was a non-resident. Where title to the property has passed from a Canadian resident vendor/mortgagor to a Canadian resident purchaser, albeit through a power of sale by a non-resident mortgagee, the provisions of section 116 will not apply to any of the three parties.
- 47. Any tax remittances payable by the purchaser must be remitted to the Receiver General for Canada within 30 days from the end of the month in which the property was acquired. The purchaser should give particulars of the transaction, identify the remittances, and specify that the payment concerned pertains to subsection 116(5) or 116(5.3). The full name and address of the vendor and the purchaser should be indicated.

- 48. Any purchaser who fails to remit or pay an amount required under subsection 116(5) or 116(5.3) may be assessed a penalty under the authority of subsection 227(10.1), calculated under the provisions of subsection 227(9). Paragraph 227(9)(a) provides for a penalty for the failure to pay or remit an amount required to be deducted or withheld equal to 10% of that amount. For second and subsequent failures during the same year, if the failure to remit or pay was made knowingly or under circumstances amounting to gross negligence, the penalty under paragraph 227(9)(b) will be 20% of the amount required to be deducted or withheld. Subsection 227(9.3) provides for levying interest on the payment or remittance required by subsections 116(5) and 116(5.3).
- 49. For penalties and interest, the Minister has the discretion under subsection 220(3.1) to waive or cancel all or any portion of any penalty or interest if it is found that the penalty or interest resulted from circumstances beyond the control of the purchaser. For more information, refer to the current version of IC92-2, GUIDELINES FOR THE CANCELLATION AND WAIVER OF INTEREST AND PENALTIES.
- 50. The purchaser incurs no obligation to pay tax if, after reasonable inquiry, there was no reason to believe the vendor was a non-resident

of Canada. There is a question as to what constitutes "reasonable inquiry." The purchaser must take prudent measures to confirm the vendor's residence status. The CRA will review each case on an individual basis whenever a purchaser assessment is being considered. The purchaser may become liable if, for any reason, the CRA believes that the purchaser could have or should have known that the vendor was a non-resident or did not take reasonable steps to find out the vendor's residence status. The CRA will not make inquiries on behalf of a purchaser in this regard.

Filing a Tax Return – Refund of Excess Payment

- 51. Every vendor of taxable Canadian property is required to file a Canadian tax return for the taxation year in which the disposition took place. After the return is assessed, any excess payment is refunded or provision is made for the release of security once the established debt has been satisfied. Income tax returns filed before the end of the taxation year will be processed only after the end of the taxation year.
- 52. Generally, for individuals, the income tax return is due on April 30th of the year following the year in which the disposition

occurred. For corporations, the return is due six months after the end of the taxation year in which the disposition took place. Trust returns are due 90 days after the end of the trust's taxation year in which the disposition took place. Returns that are filed late are subject to interest and applicable penalties. Copies of the income tax returns and the related guides can be obtained from any TSO or from the CRA website, www.cra.gc.ca. Individuals should request guide 5013-G, GENERAL INCOME TAX AND BENEFIT GUIDE FOR NON-RESIDENTS AND DEEMED RESIDENTS OF CANADA.

53. These returns must be sent to the:

International Tax Services Office 2204 Walkley Road Ottawa ON K1A 1A8 Canada

Any questions concerning the assessment of the return should also be forwarded to this office.

54. Delays in processing a vendor's income tax return occur for many reasons. However, if the proper information is provided at the time of filing, the return will be processed as quickly as possible.

Vendors should ensure that:

- (a) the information area is completed in detail;
- (b) their identification number is entered as requested;
- (c) Copy 2 of the certificate of compliance (form T2064 or T2068) is enclosed. This information slip is invaluable in tracing payments, security or exemptions in respect of the disposition, and
- (d) if, for any reason, circumstances have changed and the amount reported on the vendor's income tax return differs substantially from the amount reported for the disposition on the certificate of compliance, a note should be attached to the income tax return along with the appropriate documentation.
- 55. The Minister has the discretion to assess returns of individuals and testamentary trusts that are filed more than three years after the end of the taxation year in which the disposition occurred in order to issue refunds or to reduce taxes payable. This discretion may be

exercised where the request is in writing and the Minister is satisfied that the refund would have been issued or tax payable reduced had the returns been filed on time.

Misallocated or Lost Payments

- 56. The CRA makes every effort to ensure that a payment made for a section 116 disposition is matched to the income tax return filed. If vendors follow the instructions for filing income tax returns in paragraphs 51 to 55 above, the problem of misallocated or lost payments will be alleviated.
- 57. If the payment is not properly credited on the Notice of Assessment, the vendor should contact:

Client Services
International Tax Services Office
2204 Walkley Road
Ottawa ON K1A 1A8
Canada

Vendors should also provide the following information:

- (a) a brief description of the disposition;
- (b) the date of the payment;
- (c) the TSO that processed the certificate of compliance; and
- (d) a photocopy of the front and back of the cancelled cheque, if applicable.
- 58. Multiple-member partnerships are particularly subject to misallocation of a single payment made on behalf of the many partners. Upon receipt of a single payment, the CRA will credit each non-resident partner's tax account with their portion of payment. For more information concerning partnerships, refer to paragraph 10 above.

General Comments

59. Section 116 does not apply to a deemed disposition on death under subsection 70(5). However, the executor acting on behalf of a non-resident decedent must file an income tax return for the year of

death and pay any tax that may be necessary on the deemed disposition.

- 60. Section 116 does not apply to property that is transferred or distributed on or after death and as a consequence thereof.
- 61. If compensation is received for damages to property, consideration must be given as to whether any part of the compensation involves a transfer of title or an interest therein to which section 116 would apply. It is unlikely that a transfer of title or an interest therein has taken place when compensation has been paid to the owner of property for damages claimed in a tort action. However, when such a payment is made according to a contractual arrangement between the parties, the terms of the contract should be examined to determine whether title or an interest in the property has been received in exchange for the compensation.
- 62. A deemed dividend is triggered under section 212.1 in cases when a non-resident disposes of shares of a corporation resident in Canada to another corporation resident in Canada in a non-arm's length transaction; this deemed dividend is subject to Part XIII withholding tax under subsection 212(2). The CRA will accept a

calculation of proceeds of disposition of the shares, for purposes of section 116, which includes a reduction for the section 212.1 deemed dividend. Vendors should submit a letter of explanation and a copy of the section 212.1 calculation along with Form T2062 when requesting a certificate of compliance in these cases. The CRA may request payment of Part XIII tax before a certificate of compliance is issued.

63. Under the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity, the Government of Canada may grant exemption from tax on certain Canadian-source investment income paid or credited to the government of a foreign country. Capital gains on the disposition of taxable Canadian property may be eligible for this exemption, subject to the conditions described in the current version of IC77-16, Non-Resident Income Tax. When the vendor of taxable Canadian property is a foreign government, the CRA will issue a certificate of compliance once it is substantiated that the property is, in fact, wholly-owned by that government. The request should be sent to:

Canada Revenue Agency 22nd floor, Tower A, 320 Queen Street Ottawa ON K1A 0L5

Attention: International Legislative Affairs Legislative Policy Directorate

- 64. The disposition of mineral rights in Canada is considered to be a disposition of a Canadian resource property, and as such, is subject to the requirements of subsection 116(5.2). In the case of a Petroleum and Natural Gas Lease, the bonus portion (bonus consideration) is subject to the provisions of subsection 116(5.2). The annual rental payment is subject to withholding tax under paragraph 212(1)(d).
- 65. The disposition of a principal residence by a non-resident owner may be exempt from tax by virtue of paragraph 40(2)(b) or (c). When the gain on a principal residence is either partially or entirely exempt by these paragraphs, the non-resident should submit Form T2062 with a letter, or a completed Form T2091 (IND), DESIGNATION OF A PROPERTY AS A PRINCIPAL RESIDENCE BY AN INDIVIDUAL (OTHER THAN A PERSONAL TRUST) if applicable, outlining the calculation of the expected amount of any capital gain on the disposition. If the entire

gain is exempt, a certificate of compliance indicating "Principal residence exemption" will be issued. When the gain is partially exempt, payment or security must be provided for the non-exempt portion before the certificate of compliance is issued.

66. Section 115.1 provides for the Minister and a vendor to enter into an agreement pursuant to a provision contained in any Canadian income tax treaty to defer the recognition of a gain or income on a disposition. These dispositions may be subject to the provisions of section 116. The vendor must file the appropriate form to report a disposition along with a copy of the request made to the Canadian Competent Authority under section 115.1. The requirement for payment or security on account of tax may be waived when the Canadian Competent Authority accepts a non-resident's request for relief under a treaty provision. For more information, refer to the current version of IC71-17, REQUEST FOR COMPETENT AUTHORITY CONSIDERATION UNDER MUTUAL AGREEMENT PROCEDURES IN INCOME TAX CONVENTIONS.